9

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-002648

ABC Amusements, Inc., and Scott Wiener Respondents,

vs.

Michael O. Howard, High-Lite Rides, Inc., and MGR Rides, LLC Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Daniel R. Hughes, Esquire
John B. Duggan, Esquire
Duggan & Hughes, LLC
P.O. Box 449
Greer, South Carolina 29652-0449
Telephone: (864) 334-2500
Attorney for Appellants

Other Counsel of Record:
Wendell Hawkins, Esquire
Aimee Leary, Esquire
103-C Regency Commons Drive
Greer, SC 29650

RECEIVED
MAY 16 2017
SC Court of Appeals

APPELLANTS'

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- X. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' PRE-TRIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO A BREACH OF A COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE?
- XI. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AT THE CONCLUSION OF RESPONDENTS' CASE AS TO A BREACH OF A COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE?
- XII. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THEY COULD NOT CONSIDER AWARDING DAMAGES BASED UPON A BREACH OF A COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE CLAIM BECAUSE THE TRIAL JUDGE GRANTED APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE AFTER ALL THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE HAD CONCLUDED?
- XIII. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT PURSUANT TO RULE 50(B), *SCRCP*, AS TO APPELLANTS CLAIM FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT/DEBT COLLECTION?
- XIV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE PURSUANT TO RULE 59, *SCRCP*, AS TO THE AMOUNT OF THE VERDICT AWARDED TO RESPONDENTS?
- XV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL *NISI REMITTITUR*, PURSUANT TO RULE 59, *SCRCP*, AS TO THE AMOUNT OF THE VERDICT AWARDED TO RESPONDENT?
- XVI. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO AWARD APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE, PURSUANT TO RULE 59, *SCRCP*, AS TO THE VERDICT AWARDED TO APPELLANTS?
- XVII. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL *NISI ADDITUR*, PURSUANT TO RULE 59, *SCRCP*, AS TO THE VERDICT AWARDED TO APPELLANTS?
- XVIII. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY ALLOWING THE ADMISSION OF RESPONDENTS' ALLEGED DAMAGES THROUGH EXHIBITS THREE (3) AND FOUR (4) BECAUSE THE INFORMATION CONTAINED THEREIN COULD NOT BE AUTHENTICATED BY RESPONDENTS AND WAS TOO SPECULATIVE TO CONSTITUTE RELIABLE EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a dispute regarding a Contract dated April 1, 2010 for the purchase of certain amusement ride equipment. On August 21, 2013, Respondents filed a Complaint against Appellants, Michael O. Howard (“Howard”), High-Lite Rides, Inc. (“High-Lite”), and MGR Rides, LLC (“MGR”) alleging Breach of Contract; Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act; and, Conversion (R. pp. 3-7). On October 23, 2013, Appellants filed an Answer and Counterclaim. The first Counterclaim by Howard alleged a Breach of Contract/Debt Collection. On December 16, 2013, Appellants filed an Amended Answer to add a second Counterclaim. The second Counterclaim alleged a Breach of Contract by High-Lite as a third-party beneficiary of the Contract. On September 29, 2014, Appellants filed a Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim to add a third Counterclaim. The third Counterclaim alleged an action for “claim and delivery” which sought the return of the amusement ride equipment.

On August 6, 2014, Appellants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment concerning all causes of action submitted by both parties including Respondents’ claims that Appellants breached a Covenant not to Compete. On October 10, 2014, Appellants’ Motion for Summary Judgment was denied. On December 10, 2014, Appellants filed a second Motion for Summary Judgment as to Howard’s cause of action for “claim and delivery.” On January 26, 2015, this motion for Summary Judgment was also denied. On March 10, 2015, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to Appellants’ counterclaims. On May 29, 2015, Respondents’ motion for Summary Judgment was denied. On October 13, 2015, Appellants filed a Third Amended Answer and Counterclaim to insert the defense of the Statute of Frauds as to the alleged Covenant not to Compete (R. pp. 32-41).

This case was tried by jury during the week of November 9, 2015. Prior to swearing the jury, Appellants renewed their motion for Summary Judgment as to Respondents' claim that Appellant violated a Covenant not to Compete upon the basis that the Covenant not to Compete did not exist, and even if it did exist, the terms of the Covenant did not comport with the requirements of South Carolina law, and was therefore, void as a matter of law and public policy. (R. pp. 118-122). Appellants' arguments as to this issue, among others, were set forth fully in their pre-trial brief filed November 9, 2015, a copy of which the trial judge reviewed at the time of Appellants' motions (R. pp. 118, lns. 20-21). The pre-trial brief set forth several facts that were not in dispute, including Respondents' own admissions that a Non-Compete Agreement was never signed and that a separate writing containing a Non-compete Agreement did not exist (R. pp. 43-68). Respondents' counsel admitted a separate writing containing a non-compete agreement did not exist (R. p. 122, lns. 19-22).

The trial judge found there was no separate writing that contained a separate covenant not to compete. Nevertheless, the trial judge took Appellants' motion under advisement and the case proceeded to trial (R. p. 125, ln. 12 - p. 126, ln.5). Testimony concerning a covenant not to compete was allowed over Appellants' objection. After Respondents' case in chief, Appellants made motions for directed verdict as to the alleged breach of a Covenant not to Compete; Respondents' cause of action for conversion; Howard's cause of action for breach of contract/debt collection; and High-Lite's cause of action for breach of contract (R. pp. 198-206). Consistent with his deposition testimony referenced in Appellants' pre-trial brief, Respondent admitted in cross-examination that he never delivered a separate non-compete agreement; there was no defined geographical limitation; and, that he never paid separate consideration for the non-compete agreement (R. p. 191, ln 20 – p. 196, ln. 18). Again, the trial judge took under advisement Appellants' directed verdict motion to dismiss the breach of a Covenant not to

Compete. Respondents consented to Appellants' directed verdict motion as to their claim for conversion. The trial judge denied Appellants' remaining motions for directed verdict. Therefore, no curative instruction was given to the jury to disregard testimony and evidence pertaining to the alleged covenant not to compete.

At the conclusion of all of the evidence, Appellants renewed the same motions for directed verdict. Additionally, Respondents consented to Appellants' motion for directed verdict as to Respondents' cause of action for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act (R. pp. 233-234). The trial judge ruled in favor of Appellants' motion for directed verdict as to a breach of a covenant not to compete (R. p. 235, ln. 7 – p. 236, ln. 20). However, the trial judge denied Appellants' request for the trial judge to instruct the jury as a matter of law that they could not consider whether Appellants breached an alleged non-compete agreement, and to disregard any testimony and evidence pertaining thereto (R. p. 242, ln. 15 – p. 243, ln. 24).

The jury awarded Appellants ownership of the equipment; awarded Respondents damages in the amount of \$690,589.00; and, awarded Appellants damages in the amount of \$3,360.00 for breach of contract for failure to pay Appellants for equipment repairs. The Court reduced Respondents' award by the amount of the verdict in favor of Appellants, and on November 16, 2015, the Court entered judgment against the Appellants in the amount of \$687,229.00 (R. p. 99).

On November 17, 2015, Respondents filed their post-trial motions (R. pp. 102-103). On November 23, 2015, Appellants filed their post-trial motions (R. pp. 104-108). On December 8, 2015, the Court summarily denied all post-trial motions (R. p. 110). On December 29, 2015, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal. On January 5, 2016, Appellants ordered the Trial

Transcript. On August 30, 2016, Appellants received the Transcript. On November 30, 2016, Appellants filed their Initial Brief. On March 1, 2017, Respondents filed their Initial Brief. On March 28, 2017, Appellants filed their Reply Brief. On April 25, 2017, Appellants served the Record on Appeal on Respondents.

FACTS

Respondent ABC Amusements, Inc. (“ABC”) is a company in the business of doing festivals, shows, and carnivals. Respondent Scott Wiener (“Wiener”) is the majority owner of ABC. High-Lite is a company in the business of manufacturing and repairing amusement rides. MGR is a company in the business of leasing amusement rides. Howard is the sole owner and operator of both High-Lite and MGR.

Howard was in the business of leasing and playing events with amusement rides for many years. In early January, 2010, in an effort to “slow down,” Howard decided to sell his amusement rides. Howard began negotiations with Palmetto Amusements for the purchase of his amusement rides. However, soon thereafter, Wiener became interested in buying the rides. Wiener was an existing customer of Howard. Howard leased and sold rides to Wiener for several years prior to 2010 (R. pp. 127-128; 210-213). Some weeks or months prior to April 1, 2010, Wiener delivered to Howard a document entitled “Proposal for Buyout of Rides” (R. p. 262) (R. p. 171, lns. 13-21). The Proposal itemized the purchase price of the rides as well as the purchase price of the “MGR Route.” The Proposal was drafted weeks or months prior to the execution of the Contract, was not signed, and was not incorporated into the Contract (R. p. 171, lns. 13-21). Nevertheless, in an effort to “bootstrap” a non-compete agreement into the Contract, Respondents’ position at trial was that the proposal was part of the Contract.

Wiener visited Howard's shop and picked out the equipment he wanted to buy. On April 1, 2010, Howard, in his individual capacity, and Respondents, entered into a Contract (hereinafter "Contract") (R. p. 418-431), in which Respondents agreed to purchase from Howard amusement ride equipment for a contract price of \$633,000.00. The Contract included the following provisions:

1. Section 1.2 and Section 6.2 provided that the equipment was sold "as is", "where is" and "how is".
2. Section 1.3 provided that Howard agreed to transfer title of the equipment after the equipment was paid for in full, including any outstanding maintenance and late penalties.
3. Section 2.1 provided a purchase price of \$633,000.00 for the equipment.
4. Section 2.2 provided the following terms of payment according to an amortization scheduled attached thereto: From May 1, 2010 – October 1, 2010 and from May 1, 2011 – October 1, 2011, Respondents were obligated to pay the amount of \$8,333.33 to Howard. From May – October for the years 2012 – 2018, Respondents were obligated to pay Howard the amount of \$13,738.20 until the debt was paid in full.
5. Paragraph 2.3 provided that any unpaid portion of the purchase price is subject to an interest rate of two (2%) percent per year calculated on a monthly rate of 0.1667.
6. Section 3.1 of the Agreement provided that "Purchaser and Seller shall execute a non-compete agreement to prohibit seller from competing with business of purchaser under the terms and conditions specified in that agreement."
7. Section 4.2(c) required Purchaser to deliver a Non-Competition Agreement to Seller.

8. Section 8.2 of the Agreement required Respondents to use High-Lite as the single source for all maintenance and mechanical support of the amusement rides.
9. Section 8.5 required Howard to refer all inquiries about amusement rides (not equipment) to Respondents “during the 10 year non-compete period.”
10. Section 9.1 required Howard to notify Respondents of their failure to make payment as required by the Contract by U.S. Mail.
11. Section 9.2 provided Howard the right to recover the Equipment if Respondents defaulted on their payments.
12. Section 12.1 of the Agreement requires any amendments to the Agreement to be in writing.
13. Section 12.6 provided a merger clause as follows: “This Agreement and the documents referred (listing of these documents to be in schedule 13.6)¹ to herein contain the entire understanding among the parties with respect to transactions contemplated hereby and supersede all other agreements, understandings, and undertakings among the parties with respect to the subject matter thereof.”

The Contract did not contain any provisions regarding the MGR Route.

From April 1, 2010 – July 1, 2013, Respondents paid Howard for the equipment and paid High-Lite for maintenance of the equipment. Howard referred business to Respondents and attended events with Respondent for “almost a full two years” after April 1, 2010 even though Wiener did not attend most of the events. Howard was willing to assist Wiener with the events for two (2) years because he wanted Wiener to succeed. (R. p. 214, ln. 6 – p. 215, ln. 14). Howard even carried Respondents on his insurance for the first year of the Contract because

¹ The Contract does not contain a Schedule 13.6.

Respondents could not obtain their own policy (R. p. 226, Ins. 5 – 23). However, in 2012, “everything went south.” (R. p. 214, ln. 11).

In 2011, Howard began receiving complaints about Respondents’ performance at events (R. p. 215, ln. 11). Wiener began to alienate Howard’s biggest customers because of his poor performance such as Professional Affairs’ events in Evansville, Indiana and Albany, Georgia; a Will & Kris Amusements event at Spartanburg Spring Fling; an event in Virginia with Magic Shows; event with the City of Gaffney; Abrams Catering event at North Carolina State University; event at First Baptist North Spartanburg; and, an event with Canton Lions Club in Canton, NC. (R. p. 495, ln. 25 – p. 505, ln. 9).

Several event operators testified at trial regarding Respondents’ poor performance and lack of credibility.

Max Pfeiffer, the owner and operator of Professional Affairs, an event planning company, plays 75-100 events per year. He testified he would no longer use Respondents based upon certain incidents involving Respondents in Evansville, Indiana and Albany, GA. (R. p. 468, ln. 22 – p. 473, ln. 10; R. p. 417).

Will Kirksey, owner of Will & Kris Amusements, Inc., testified he would no longer use Respondents for their events after Wiener met with the event committees at Spartanburg Spring Fling and Freedom Weekend Aloft in an effort to take these event from Will & Kris Amusements (R. p. 208, ln. 18 – p. 209, ln. 21; R. p. 415). In fact, Respondent admitted he tried “to steal” the Spartanburg Spring Fling event (R. p. 173, ln. 15 – p. 175, ln. 4).

Ed Brown, owner and operator of the Big Ed Brown rodeo for forty-seven (47) years, testified that he called Howard and told him not to send Respondents to his event after their performance at his rodeo in 2011 and 2012. (R. p. 475, ln. 5 – p. 479, ln. 16; R. p. 416).

Michael Reisinger, owner of Michael's Enterprises, Inc., plays 50-60 events a year. In 2008, Mr. Reisinger sent two rides for Respondents to use at an event at Redemption World Outreach Church. Wiener wrote Reisinger a check for \$6,500.00 for the work. Reisinger lost the check, but then found it a few years later. In 2013, Mr. Reisinger called Wiener about the check and Wiener told him to deposit it. The check did not clear, and after informing Wiener the check did not clear, Wiener never paid Mr. Reisinger for his services. As a result, Mr. Reisinger decided he would no longer do business with Respondents (R. pp. 458-464).

Because Howard's customers would no longer use Respondents to assist with their events, Howard stopped referring customers to Respondents. Yet, Respondents claimed damages from events with the very same customers that would not use Respondents for their events.

After July 1, 2013, Respondents stopped paying Howard and High-Lite the payments according to Section 2.2 and 8.2 of the Contract (R. p. 162, lns. 3-10). From July 1, 2013 through the date of trial, ABC continued to use Howard's equipment at events while making money with the equipment and not paying Howard according to the Contract (R. p. 168, lns. 2-8). In fact, according to Defendant's Exhibit No. 2 and his own admission, Respondent played, at a minimum, seventy-one (71) shows from July 1, 2013 through the date of trial with Howard's equipment while not paying Howard. (R. p. 169, ln. 20- p. 170, ln. 1).

Respondents submitted Plaintiff's Exhibits three (3) and four (4) as proof of its damages. The information contained therein was compiled by Respondents from MGR's bank records (R. p. 115, ln. 6 – p. 117, ln. 9). Exhibit three (3) listed events Respondents alleged Appellants played after April 1, 2010 and listed a total of the amount received for that event. After

subtracting payments MGR paid to Respondents, Respondents' alleged damages, according to Exhibit 3, was \$370,445.26 (R. p. 263-266).

Exhibit four (4) was a list of events Respondents alleged were "cash events" that Appellant participated in and received payment without any entry on Appellants' bank records or ledgers. According to Exhibit 4, Respondents alleged damages of an additional \$123,000.00 (R. p. 290).

Through extensive cross-examination, Appellants demonstrated the unreliability and misleading nature of Exhibits 3 and 4.

Exhibit No. 3

In regards to Event No. 2 dated May 17, 2010 at Life Song Church, Respondent could not recall if Appellant actually paid him for that event or not (R. p. 180, ln. 9 – 22). In regards to Event No. 4, as well as many of the events through 2012, Howard and Respondents were playing the events in concert and sharing the revenue. Yet, Respondents still claimed damages through Exhibit No. 3 for the entire amount received. (R. p. 181, ln. 23 – p. 182, ln. 10). In regards to Event No. 7, Respondent admitted that the amount of \$15,150.00 was inaccurate (R. p. 183, lns. 8 – 11). In regards to Event No. 17, Respondent again admitted the alleged damage of \$7,750.00 was speculative because he could not remember whether or not he received payment from Appellants for that event (R. p. 184, ln. 6 – p. 185, ln. 19). Additionally, many of the events (Nos. 25, 26, 27, 29, 30, 31, 32, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 42, 45, 46, 48, 49; and 52-55) were events for customers who would not use Respondents (R. p. 186, lns. 9-13; lns. 23-25).

Exhibit No. 4

Respondent testified he prepared Exhibit No. 4 without any personal knowledge or way to verify that Appellant actually played those events or made any money from those events. Rather, the information was based upon his recollection of events he previously played that were

“cash events,” and the revenue those events typically generated. Respondent admitted that the amount of revenue generated each year could change. (R. p. 187, ln. 9 – p. 188, ln. 18). Respondent even admitted counting one entry in Exhibits 4 that he already included in Exhibit 3 (R. p. 189, lns. 2 – 23).

During cross-examination, Respondent also conceded that his alleged damages listed in Exhibits 3 and 4 did not account for the expenses involved in playing events (R. p. 189). Respondent admitted the gross revenue does not equal the net profit (R. p. 176, lns. 6-9). Respondent acknowledged there would be expenses for gasoline, repairs, inspection fees, transportation costs, and insurance. Respondent admitted that the expenses would be substantial (R. p. 176, ln. 10 – p. 177, ln. 25). Yet, Respondent’s alleged damages in Exhibits 3 and 4 did not account for any expenses. Respondent admitted some expenses would have to be deducted (R. p. 178, lns. 22-25) and he admitted that the numbers in Exhibits 3 and 4 did not fairly and accurately represent his alleged damages (R. p. 179, lns. 1-21).

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