**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge**

**RECEIVED**

**MAY 17 2017**

**Appellate Case No.: 2015-002648**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**ABC Amusements, Inc. and Scott Wiener,**

**Respondents,**

**v.**

**Michael O. Howard, High-Lite Rides, Inc.,  
and MGR Rides, LLC**

**Appellants,**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Wendell L. Hawkins, Esq., S.C. Bar No.13583  
Aimee V. Leary, Esq., S.C. Bar No. 100657  
Wendell L. Hawkins, PA  
103-C Regency Commons Drive  
Greer, SC 29650  
(864) 848-9370 Ph (864) 848-9759 Fax

**Attorneys for Respondents**

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' PRE-TRIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO BREACH OF A COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE.**

During the pendency of this case, Appellant's filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to all causes of action filed by Respondents against Appellants and all causes of action filed by Appellants against Respondents. This motion was denied. (R. p. 42). Appellant's renewed this motion prior to trial, specifically regarding Breach of Contract of the Non-Competition Agreement. (R. pp. 118-126).

In opposition to Appellants' Motion, Respondents argued that the Agreement not only did not contain a separate non-compete agreement, but it also did not include a note or personal guaranty as contemplated by the terms of the Agreement, which Appellants sought to enforce.

Respondents further argued the doctrine of part performance: "[Appellants have] engaged in the actions that would amount to part performance, therefore, that overrides the statute of frauds and evidence is admissible to impose a non-compete requirement." (R. p. 123). As a result, Judge Stilwell took the motion under advisement.

Moreover, Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment is not appealable.

This Court has repeatedly held that the denial of summary judgment is not directly appealable. Willis v. Bishop, 276 S.C. 156, 276 S.E.2d 310 (1981); Mitchell v. Mitchell, 276 S.C. 44, 275 S.E.2d 1 (1981); Neal v. Carolina Power and Light, 274 S.C. 552, 265 S.E.2d 681 (1980); United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. City of Spartanburg, 267 S.C. 210, 227 S.E.2d 188 (1976); Medlin v. W.T. Grant, Inc., 262 S.C. 185, 203 S.E.2d 426 (1974); Greenwich Savings Bank v. Jones, 261 S.C. 515, 201 S.E.2d 244 (1973); Geiger v. Carolina Pool Equipment Distributors, Inc., 257 S.C. 112, 184 S.E.2d 446 (1971); see also Gilmore v. Ivey, 290 S.C. 53, 348 S.E.2d 180 (Ct.App.1986); Associates Financial Services Co. of South Carolina, Inc. v. Gordon Auto Sales, 283 S.C. 53, 320 S.E.2d 501 (Ct.App.1984). A majority of the other jurisdictions have reached this same conclusion. 4 C.J.S. Appeal and Error, § 98 (1993); 4 Am.Jur.2d Appeal and Error, § 104 (1962 & Supp.1993); 15 A.L.R.3d 899 (1967 & Supp.1993). Further, this Court has held that the denial of summary judgment is not reviewable even in an appeal from final judgment. Raino v. Goodyear Tire, 309 S.C. 255, 422 S.E.2d 98 (1992); Holloman v. McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 345 S.E.2d 728 (1986).

A denial of a motion for summary judgment decides nothing about the merits of the case, but simply decides the case should proceed to trial. Parker Oil Co. v. Smith, 34 N.C.App. 324, 237 S.E.2d 882 (1977); cf. Geiger v. Carolina Pool Equipment Distributors, Inc., *supra*. The denial of summary judgment does not establish the law of the case, and the issues raised in the motion may be raised again later in the proceedings by a motion to reconsider the summary judgment motion or by a motion for a directed verdict. Johnston v. Bowen, 313 S.C. 61, 437 S.E.2d 45 (1993) (motion to reconsider); Weil v. Weil, 299 S.C. 84, 382 S.E.2d 471 (Ct.App.1989) (statement made while denying summary judgment is not the law of the case); PPG Industries v. Orangeburg Paint & Decorating Center, Inc., 297 S.C. 176, 375 S.E.2d 331 (Ct.App.1988) (motion to reconsider); 21 C.J.S. Courts, § 149, p. 183 (1990).

In short, the denial of summary judgment does not *finally* determine anything about the merits of the case and does not have the effect of striking any defense since that defense may be raised again later in the proceedings. ***Therefore, an order denying a motion for summary judgment is not appealable.*** Good v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 201 S.C. 32, 21 S.E.2d 209 (1942) (an order

which has not resulted in any binding adjudication of the rights of the parties is not appealable). Ballenger v. Bowen, 313 S.C. 476, 476-78, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994) (emphasis added).

For the reasons stated herein, appellate review of this issue should be denied.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO BREACH OF A COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE AFTER RESPONDENTS' CASE IN CHIEF.**

The trial Court did not err in denying Appellants' Motion for directed verdict at the conclusion of Respondents' case as there was sufficient evidence presented by Respondents in their case in chief regarding the intent and part performance of the parties to enter into a non-competition agreement as well as language within the contract identifying such an agreement. Notably, the Court acknowledged that even if there was not a formal covenant not to compete, the parties entered into a contract that they themselves agreed to be governed by and the jury was therefore entitled to interpret the contract as written and agreed upon by the parties.

Respondents entered into evidence the Agreement between the parties which evidences the parties intent to enter into a non-competition agreement. Section 3.1 of the Agreement provides "Non-Competition Agreement. Purchaser and Seller shall execute a Non-Competition Agreement to prohibit Seller from competing with the business of Purchaser under the terms and conditions specified in that Agreement." Section 8.5 provides "[s]eller agrees to refer all inquiries about amusement rides (not equipment) to Purchaser during the 10 year non compete period." Also, the Agreement provides that "all new/Incoming rental business will be referred to ABC Amusements." (R. pp. 248-262).

Moreover, in reviewing Respondents' Exhibit 1 at Trial, Scott Wiener testified as follows:

The new inquiries or anybody that inquired about rides or rentals, all new were supposed to come through ABC. There wasn't any exceptions on [the Agreement]. I mean, if you go back, you can go back and look at the last page. It didn't say, Well, maybe they don't like the way I comb my hair or dress or operate my

operation. It just says, All new incoming rental business will be referred to ABC Amusements. (R. p. 144, lines 9-16).

Wiener further testified on direct as follows:

Q: What did you believe the non-compete clause to encompass?

A: Not renting any of the equipment to my competitors. That's why I was paying \$150,000 extra. If I just wanted to buy the equipment and go on my way, then I would have paid him 150 less and just gone on my way. (R. p. 145, lines 19-24).

When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or a JNOV, this Court must apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the *light most favorable to the nonmoving party*. Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). The trial court *must deny a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference or its inference is in doubt*. Strange v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 314 S.C. 427, 445 S.E.2d 439 (1994). Moreover, "[a] motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict." Gastineau v. Murphy, 331 S.C. 565, 568, 503 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1998). *An appellate court will reverse the trial court's ruling only if no evidence supports the ruling below.* Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (Ct.App.2000). In deciding such motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence. Id. at 300, 536 S.E.2d at 419. RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 331-32, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012) (emphasis added).

The appellate court will reverse the trial court's ruling on a directed verdict motion *only when there is no evidence to support the ruling or when the ruling is controlled by an error of law.* Law at 434-35, 629 S.E.2d at 648. *When considering directed verdict motions*, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence. Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C., 368 S.C. 444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006). Estate of Carr ex rel. Bolton v. Circle S Enterprises, Inc., 379 S.C. 31, 39, 664 S.E.2d 83, 86 (Ct. App. 2008).

In taking the motion under advisement, Judge Stilwell reasoned as follows:

[t]here's certainly evidence of covenant not to compete. I'm not saying that it's good or bad, I'm just saying it's there. You know, insofar as ambiguous contracts go, this is probably one of the most ambiguous that I've seen. I mean, I suppose it could have been more ambiguous if it were on a cocktail napkin, but it's pretty much -- it's probably more ambiguous because it's got more clauses in it that give you more pause to wonder what the parties intended. So, it's there. (R. p. 202, lines 23-25 and R. p. 203, lines 1-7).

The Court correctly identified that fact that evidence of a non-compete had been presented by Respondents and therefore the Court correctly denied Appellants' Motion for a Directed Verdict and instead took the same under advisement to allow for the admissibility of additional testimony and evidence.

For the reasons stated herein, Respondents' aver that the trial Court did not err in denying Appellants' Motion for a Directed Verdict.

**III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THEY COULD NOT CONSIDER AWARDED DAMAGES BASED UPON A BREACH OF A COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE AFTER APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT WAS GRANTED AFTER ALL TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE WAS COMPLETED.**

Prior to closing arguments, Appellants renewed their Motion for a Directed Verdict as to the Non-Competition Agreement. At that time the Court held as follows:

I'm going to find that there is no separate and distinct covenant not to compete. And no damages can flow from a breach of a separate and distinct covenant not to compete.... However, having made that ruling, I am not limiting the Plaintiff's ability to argue to the jury that the parties intent was that the Defendant not compete with the Plaintiff's business. And that damages -- they can argue that damages emanated from not referring business and from being in direct competition with the same. (R. p. 236, lines 2-12).

After the jury received their instructions from the Court, Appellants requested that the jury be instructed that the they cannot consider a breach of the Covenant Not to Compete. (R. p. 242, lines 17-21). However, the Court reasoned with Appellants and held as follows:

The effect of finding that it was void and unenforceable is that they cannot claim perspective damages for 10 years or request injunctive relief precluding him from working. However, they can consider, if they determine that the intention of the parties was that he not compete and/or that he refer all new business to them, that they can consider that as an element of damages. (R. p. 242, lines 24-25 and R. p. 243, lines 1-7).

South Carolina Courts are clear that an alleged error in a jury instruction will not be reversed absent proof of error and prejudice.

In reviewing an alleged error in jury instructions, we are mindful that an appellate court will not reverse the circuit court's decision absent an abuse of discretion. See Cole v. Raut, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008) (applying an abuse of discretion standard of review to an alleged error in jury instructions). In reviewing jury charges for error, the appellate court must consider the circuit court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 311, 536 S.E.2d 408, 425 (Ct.App.2000): If the charges are reasonably free from error, isolated portions that might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. Keaton ex rel. Foster v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 334 S.C. 488, 497, 514 S.E.2d 570, 575 (1999). Hennes v. Shaw, 397 S.C. 391, 402, 725 S.E.2d 501, 507-08 (Ct. App. 2012).

"An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence." Cole v. Raut, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008). An erroneous jury instruction will not result in reversal unless it causes prejudice to the appealing party. Id. at 405, 663 S.E.2d at 33; see also Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 390, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) ("When instructing the jury, the trial court is required to charge only principles of law that apply to the issues raised in the pleadings and developed by the evidence in support of those issues."). "A jury charge consisting of irrelevant and inapplicable principles may confuse the jury and constitutes reversible error where the jury's confusion affects the outcome of the trial." Cole, 378 S.C. at 404, 663 S.E.2d at 33. Berberich v. Jack, 392 S.C. 278, 285, 709 S.E.2d 607, 611 (2011).

The burden always rests upon the appellant to show an abuse of discretion [Baggett v. Strickland, 158 S.C. 60, 155 S.E. 237 (1930) ]; and in determining whether an abuse of discretion occurred, the case must be considered in the light of its underlying circumstances. Rochester v. Holiday Magic, Inc., *supra*; Brown v. Weathers, 251 S.C. 67, 160 S.E.2d 133 (1968). Em-Co Metal Prod., Inc. v. Great Atl. & Pac. Tea Co., 280 S.C. 107, 110, 311 S.E.2d 83, 85 (Ct. App. 1984).

An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 354 S.E.2d 565 (1987). Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

To warrant reversal, *the party seeking the requested jury charge must demonstrate error and prejudice.* Cole v. Raut, 378 S.C. 398, 405, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008) ("*An erroneous jury instruction, however, is not grounds for reversal unless the appellant can show prejudice from the erroneous instruction.*"). "An alleged error is harmless if the appellate court determines beyond a reasonable doubt that the alleged error did not contribute to the verdict." Wells, 341 S.C. at 237, 533 S.E.2d at 343. Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 385 S.C. 344, 351, 683 S.E.2d 818, 822 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd*, 398 S.C. 90, 727 S.E.2d 407 (2012) (emphasis added).



In Appellants' Initial Brief, Appellants presented no evidence of error or prejudice to their case as a result of the jury instruction. Rather they mentioned possible prejudice as a result of the Court's denial of Appellant's Motion for a Directed Verdict. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Respondents aver that the jury instruction was not in error and was specifically tailored to the unique circumstances of the case at hand.

Moreover, the Court specifically prohibited Respondents from seeking prospective damages or injunctive relief pursuant to the covenant not to compete. Respondents were limited to seeking damages as a result of Appellants' competition with Respondents during the prescribed time period and/or Appellants' failure to refer all new/incoming business to Respondents as contemplated in the Agreement.

For the reasons stated herein, Respondents pray that that Court affirm the trial Court's use of jury instructions as the Appellants have failed to present any error or prejudice to their case as a result of the instructions given by the trial Court (emphasis added).

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT PURSUANT TO RULE 50(B), SCRPC, AS TO APPELLANT HOWARD'S CLAIM FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT/DEBT COLLECTION.**

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